

Thomas Jefferson University Jefferson Digital Commons

Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolic Diseases Faculty Papers Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolic Diseases

11-30-2019

A rewiring model of intratumoral interaction networks.

Mengmeng Sang

Shawn Rice

Libo Jiang

Xin Liu

Claudia Gragnoli

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://jdc.jefferson.edu/endocrinologyfp

Part of the Medical Biotechnology Commons
<u>Let us know how access to this document benefits you</u>

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Jefferson Digital Commons. The Jefferson Digital Commons is a service of Thomas Jefferson University's Center for Teaching and Learning (CTL). The Commons is a showcase for Jefferson books and journals, peer-reviewed scholarly publications, unique historical collections from the University archives, and teaching tools. The Jefferson Digital Commons allows researchers and interested readers anywhere in the world to learn about and keep up to date with Jefferson scholarship. This article has been accepted for inclusion in Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolic Diseases Faculty Papers by an authorized administrator of the Jefferson Digital Commons. For more information, please contact: JeffersonDigitalCommons@jefferson.edu.

Authors

Mengmeng Sang, Shawn Rice, Libo Jiang, Xin Liu, Claudia Gragnoli, Chandra P. Belani, and Rongling Wu

Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 18 (2020) 45-51





COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

JOURNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

Mini Review

A rewiring model of intratumoral interaction networks

Mengmeng Sang^a, Shawn Rice^{b,c}, Libo Jiang^a, Xin Liu^{b,c}, Claudia Gragnoli^{d,e}, Chandra P. Belani^{b,c}, Rongling Wu^{e,*}



^a Beijing Advanced Innovation Center for Tree Breeding by Molecular Design, Center for Computational Biology, College of Biological Sciences and Technology, Beijing Forestry University, Beijing 100083, China

^b Penn State Hershey Cancer Institute, Penn College of Medicine, Hershey, PA 17033 USA

^c Department of Medicine, Penn College of Medicine, Hershey, PA 17033 USA

^d Methodist Hospital Division of Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, Philadelphia PA 19107 USA

^e Department of Public Health Sciences, Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine, Hershey, PA 17033 USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 March 2019 Received in revised form 24 October 2019 Accepted 21 November 2019 Available online 30 November 2019

Keywords: Intratumor heterogeneity Game theory Community ecology Cellular interactions

ABSTRACT

Intratumoral heterogeneity (ITH) has been regarded as a key cause of the failure and resistance of cancer therapy, but how it behaves and functions remains unclear. Advances in single-cell analysis have facilitated the collection of a massive amount of data about genetic and molecular states of individual cancer cells, providing a fuel to dissect the mechanistic organization of ITH at the molecular, metabolic and positional level. Taking advantage of these data, we propose a computational model to rewire up a topological network of cell-cell interdependences and interactions that operate within a tumor mass. The model is grounded on the premise of game theory that each interactive cell (player) strives to maximize its fitness by pursuing a "rational self-interest" strategy, war or peace, in a way that senses and alters other cells to respond properly. By integrating this idea with genome-wide association studies for intratumoral cells, the model is equipped with a capacity to visualize, annotate and quantify how somatic mutations mediate ITH and the network of intratumoral interactions. Taken together, the model provides a topological flow by which cancer cells within a tumor cooperate or compete with each other to downstream pathogenesis. This topological flow can be potentially used as a blueprint for genetically intervening the pattern and strength of cell-cell interactions towards cancer control.

© 2019 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1. 2.	Introduction	46 46
	2.1. Cancer as an ecosystem	. 46
	2.2. Oligogenic model of ITH	. 46
	2.3. GWAS for intratumoral cells	. 46
	2.4. Worked example	. 48
3.	Computing cooperation and competition within a tumor	48
	3.1. Game theory	. 48
	3.2. A computing framework	. 48
	3.3. Application	. 49
4.	Discussion	51
	Author contributions statement	51
	Declaration of Competing Interest	51
	Acknowledgements	51
	Appendix A. Supplementary data	51
	References	51

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: rwu@phs.psu.edu (R. Wu).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2019.11.009

2001-0370/© 2019 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Cancer is composed of genotypically and phenotypically heterogeneous cells that are distributed spatially within the tumor, presenting a phenomenon called intratumoral heterogeneity (ITH) [1–3]. Because of this complexity, cancer pathogenesis is not only determined by the amount of the constituent cells, but also depends on how these cells interact with each other and with their microenvironment in the body [4]. Currently used genome-wide association studies (GWAS) that sample a set of patients from a natural population have been instrumental for characterizing key somatic mutations that cause tumor growth [5–8], but these genes identified are merely associated with the overall symptom of cancer, not with the pattern and strength of ITH [9]. Also, genes derived from patients' normal tissues by GWAS may be related with cancer progression through a myriad of indirect pathways, rather than directly participate in this event as derivers [6].

To identify direct drivers responsible for ITH, it is crucial to reveal what general rules govern its structure and organization. Cancer is actually an ecosystem composed of distinct cell subpopulations that are the equivalence of asexually reproductive, unicellular quasi-organisms [10] and, therefore, its evolution can be understood by Darwin's natural selection principle [1,11,12]. By communicating with each other via hormones, oxygen and nutrients, one cell subpopulation may affect the behavior of other subpopulations both locally and at a distance. The pattern of such a communication can be competitive (like a "war" by which each subpopulation grows at the cost of others) or cooperative (like a "peace" by which different subpopulations can benefit from one another), depending on many factors including the geographic distribution of cells and somatic mutations [12,13]. Rapid advance in single-cell analysis provides a possibility to genome-wide genotype, sequence and phenotype intratumoral cells spatially located at different positions within a tumor [14], but the identification of ITH-related war and peace and their underlying mechanisms from these data remains a major challenge.

Here, we develop a novel model to investigate the internal workings of ITH. This model is grounded on the principle of game theory integrated with ecosystem theory through computational modeling, thus equipped with a capacity to quantify and interpret how cells interact with each other ecologically within a tumor and how genetic mutations rewire up one cell to others geographically distributed at different places of the tumor. Ecosystem theory aims to study the emergent property of a system mediated by its interconnected components [15], whereas game theory strives to identify a rational strategy chosen by each individual for its maximum payoff [16,17]. This strategy is called "rational" because its choice both relies on and can determine the strategies of other members in the game. Our unified model can discern the competitive and cooperative pattern of cell-cell interactions that occur pervasively within a tumor. By analyzing the association between (epi)genetic variants and cancer phenotypes or endophenotypes, the new model enables the detection and mapping of cancersusceptibility genes that are expressed specifically in response to the microenvironment of a given patient.

2. A model for mutation identification

2.1. Cancer as an ecosystem

The concept of ecosystem was introduced into cancer research four decades ago [1,4,18]. This pioneering thinking has well been confirmed by current next-generation sequencing. The cellular composition of cancer is highly heterogeneous with divergent lineages of transformed cancer cells that evolve into metastasis through different pathways and at different rates [18,19]. Such ITH is one of the primary reasons why current several major therapeutic approaches, such as surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy, cannot treat and eradicate cancer completely [20]. A therapy may kill one dominant population of cancer cells, but it is powerless to some other minor populations that, after the treatment, grow and become dominant [21]. Thus, even if successive interventions that often accompany substantial toxicity to patients are used, cancer would still recur at particular times.

On the other hand, cancer cells do not divide, proliferate and metastasize in isolation, instead they have evolved sophisticated strategies for their intimate cooperation and coordination to achieve maximum fitness in a given host environment [2,3]. Using the classic MMTV-Wnt1 mouse mammary tumor model, Cleary et al. [22] observed that breast cancer can propagate only when its two genetically distinct subclones, luminal *Wnt1*^{high}*HRas*^{wild-type} and basal *Wnt1*^{low}*HRas*^{mutant}, are transplanted together into mammary fat pads of wild-type host animals. This study convincingly shows that cell–cell cooperation is a key driver of breast cancer growth. Thus, by uncoupling such cooperation of different types of cells by designing and delivering pharmacological intervention, cancer can be well controlled [3].

2.2. Oligogenic model of ITH

Traditional GWAS through a direct link of patient's DNA to cancer risk does not capture the mechanistic underpinnings of how internal workings occur within a tumor. It has been evidenced that cancer is initiated due to point mutations or other genetic alterations on particular regions of the genome [23,24]. Some mutations in a particular cell confer a selective advantage for this cell to outgrow the cells that surround it, forming a patch of clones. Such mutations, called "driver" mutations, are believed to play a key role in the evolution of tumor from benign to malignant lesions. Relative to driver mutations, there are also "passenger" mutations that have no effect on the neoplastic process. It is of fundamental importance in clinical therapies to distinguish the drivers from the passengers although this is usually not an easy task. Other alterations that cause cancer include copy-number alterations, translocations and epigenetic changes.

More recently, increasing studies show that many drivers may provide a relatively modest selective advantage, in contrast to a few drivers of large effects on cancer development [25]. This socalled oligogenic model of drivers is analogous to the genetic control mechanism of many quantitative traits [26]. From this standpoint, cancer cells can be viewed as individual quasi-organisms with continuously varying phenotypes modified by many minor genes and environment. This line of idea is illustrated by a diagrammatic tumor (Fig. 1), in which some cells are large, some are small, whereas most are intermediate from small to large. Mutations that cause the quantitative variation of cell phenotypes or endophenotypes can be identified by genotyping and phenotyping individual cells. However, classic quantitative genetic theory is insufficient to explain such phenotypic variation among cancer cells, because there exists noted cell-cell interdependence. To take into account the phenomenon that no organism may live in isolation, Zhu et al. [27] developed a general framework that integrates game theory into quantitative genetic theory in a way that enables the estimation of how an individual's phenotype is jointly controlled by its own genes, the genes from its conspecific, and epistatic effects between genes derived from two interactive individuals.

2.3. GWAS for intratumoral cells

Today's genome-wide analysis through sequencing of the exome or whole genome allows all of genes altered in cancer to



Fig. 1. Topological landscape of a tumor. Some cells are labeled for explanation. Two-way arrows, one-way arrows and a line ended with two diamonds denote cooperation, parasitism and competition, respectively. Adapted from Komarova [36].

be characterized at base-pair resolution [14]. These techniques can not only genotype and sequence individual cancer-cell subpopulations, but also dissect the spatial structure and organization of a tumor [28]. In Fig. 1's hypothesized tumor spherically populated by a number of abundance-varying cell populations, variation in cell abundance may be attributed to different types of mutation. For example, cell 19 is strikingly larger than cell 20, suggesting that the former contains specific mutations that leads it to grow faster than the latter. With no doubt, the genome-wide identification of such mutations helps our understanding of the genetic mechanisms underlying the bewildering diversity of cancer cells.

Box 1 provides a statistical procedure for identifying the mutations that govern the growth and variation of cancer cells. Based on the geographic distribution of cancer cells (Fig. 1), we randomly sample a set of representative cells to measure their mutations throughout the entire genome and phenotypes (such as cell abundance) or endophenotypes including transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolic profiles by single cell analysis. With the advance of single-cell sequencing techniques, it has become highly possible to measure time series data for the phenotypes. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) of mutations and cell phenotypes by which to characterize drivers for cell growth can be performed by several statistical methods. They are single-mutation analysis based on simple regression, epistatic analysis aimed to detect significant genetic interactions and high-dimensional variable selection for analyzing all mutations at a time. The first two models are based on the marginal effects of individual loci or locus pairs, thus neglecting the confounding effect of correlated mutations. The third model can make a global characterization of all possible significant mutations whose statistical properties have been validated through empirical data analysis and computer simulation [29,30].

Box 1: Statistical design and algorithm of cancer genome-wide association studies for intratumoral cells To make it useful in practice, we implemented a statistical procedure for materializing the new theory that is the unification of ecosystem theory and game theory. Using the structural distribution of cancer cells in Fig. 1 as an example, suppose that we have measured mutation loci of each labelled cell and its phenotypes or endophenotypes including transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolic profiles by single cell analysis. It is possible that time series data for these phenotypes can be made available with the advance of single-cell sequencing techniques. To make a comparison, these types of information are measured for normal cells around the tumor. Below is the hypothesized format of data measured for labeled cancer cells and normal cells:

	Mutated Loci			Time Series Omics							
No.	1	2		т	Size	1	2	3	4	•••	Т
Normal	Т	А		С	<i>y</i> 0	$z_0(1)$	$z_0(2)$	<i>z</i> ₀ (3)	$z_0(4)$		$z_0(T)$
C1	G	С		Т	y1	$z_1(1)$	$z_1(2)$	$z_1(3)$	$z_1(4)$		$z_1(T)$
C2	G	С		Т	<i>y</i> ₂	$z_2(1)$	$z_2(2)$	$z_2(3)$	$z_2(4)$		$z_2(T)$
C3	Т	Α		Т	y3	$z_3(1)$	$z_3(2)$	$z_3(3)$	$z_3(4)$		$z_3(T)$
C4	Т	С		С	<i>y</i> 4	$z_4(1)$	$z_4(2)$	$z_4(3)$	$z_4(4)$		$z_4(T)$
C5	G	Α		С	<i>y</i> 5	$z_5(1)$	$z_5(2)$	$z_5(3)$	$z_5(4)$		$z_5(T)$
C6	Т	С		Т	<i>y</i> 6	$z_6(1)$	$z_6(2)$	$z_6(3)$	$z_6(4)$		$z_6(T)$
C7	G	А		С	y7	$z_7(1)$	$z_7(2)$	$z_7(3)$	$z_7(4)$		$z_7(T)$
C8	Т	А		Т	Y8	$z_8(1)$	$z_8(2)$	$z_8(3)$	$z_8(4)$		$z_8(T)$
Cn	G	С		Т	y_n	$z_n(1)$	$z_n(2)$	$z_n(3)$	$z_n(4)$		$z_n(T)$

To reflect the tenet of the new theory, i.e., different cells interacts to reciprocally affect their phenotypes, we arrange the data by physical connections of different cells. For example, cell population 1 is linked with cell populations 2 and 5, which suggests that the former should be paired with the latters. Based on this principle, we obtain the new data format as follows:

	Mutatic	$n \times N$	lutation	Types of Cell-Cell Interactions				
Pair	M1		M_m	Mutualism	Parasitism	Antagonism		
$C1 \times C2$	G×G		T×T	$(y_1y_2)/d_{12}$	$y_1/y_2/d_{12}$	$1/(y_1y_2d_{12})$		
C1 × C6	G×T		T×T	$(y_1y_6)/d_{16}$	$y_1/y_6/d_{16}$	$1/(y_1y_6d_{16})$		
$C2 \times C3$	G×T		T×T	$(y_2y_3)/d_{23}$	$y_2/y_3/d_{23}$	$1/(y_2y_3d_{23})$		
$C2 \times C8$	G×T		T×T	$(y_2y_8)/d_{28}$	$y_2/y_8/d_{28}$	$1/(y_2y_8d_{28})$		
$C3 \times C4$	T×T		T×C	$(y_3y_4)/d_{34}$	$y_3/y_4/d_{34}$	$1/(y_3y_4d_{34})$		
C3 × C13	T×G		T×C	$(y_3y_{13})/d_{3(13)}$	$y_3/y_{13}/d_{3(13)}$	$1/(y_3y_{13}d_{3(13)})$		
$C5 \times C6$	G×T		C×T	$(y_5y_6)/d_{56}$	$y_5/y_6/d_{56}$	$1/(y_5y_6d_{56})$		
C6 × C7	T×G		T×C	$(y_6y_7)/d_{67}$	$y_6/y_7/d_{67}$	$1/(y_6y_7d_{67})$		
C6 × C17	T×G		T×C	$(y_6y_{17})/d_{6(17)}$	$y_6/y_{17}/d_{6(17)}$	$1/(y_6y_{17}d_{6(17)})$		

where *d.* is the physical distance between different cancer cells. The phenotypes of adjacent cells (i.e., cancer size) are also paired in terms of their competitive or cooperative relationships. To characterize how genetic mutations determine cancer phenotypes through cell–cell heterogeneity and interactions, we formulate the likelihood of the above re-arranged data, which, for any mutation locus (say M_1), is expressed as.

$$L(z) = \prod_{i=1}^{n_{GG}} f_{GG}(x_i) \prod_{i=1}^{n_{GT}} f_{GT}(x_i) \prod_{i=1}^{n_{TT}} f_{TT}(x_i) \prod_{i=1}^{n_{TG}} f_{TG}(x_i)$$
(B1)

where cell–cell pairs form four different mutation combinations $G \times G$, $G \times T$, $T \times T$ and $T \times G$ at this locus; n_{GG} , n_{GT} , n_{TT} , and n_{TG} are the observations of four mutation combinations, respectively; and $f_{\cdot}(z_i)$ is the probability density of a derivative variable *x* (denoting a product, ratio, or the inverse of product; see the second data format), with expected mean μ_x^x for a particular combination and variance σ^2 .

By estimating and testing the differences of the expected mean between these combinations, we can determine whether this mutation affects the derivative trait. Zhu et al. [27] developed a method for dissolving the genetic effects of the derivative variable into direct, indirect and epistatic effects on the original phenotypic trait of two pairing partners. Here, the direct effect denotes the genetic effect of a mutation of a target cell on its own phenotypic trait, the indirect effect implies the genetic effect of the mutation of this target cell on the phenotypic trait of its partner, and the epistatic effect is the across-cell genetic interaction effect of the mutations derived from the two paired cells on the phenotypic traits of the two cells. Zhu et al. [27] also provided a procedure of testing each of these effects based on a likelihood-ratio approach.

We extend Zhu et al.'s procedure to estimate the genetic variances of the phenotypic trait of the target cell by the direct effect, indirect effect and across-cell epistatic effect, respectively. From these estimates, we can further estimate the proportions of the total genetic variance by each of these effects. This proportion describes the relative contributions of direct, indirect and across-cell epistatic effects to the total phenotypic variance.

2.4. Worked example

To demonstrate the utility of our model, we reanalyze a published data of cancer collected by high-throughput sequencing. As a conceptual idea, our model can characterize intratumoral geographic adjacency. On contrast, two adjoining populations 15 and 16 are small-sized, possibly due to their specific mutations and mutual conflict. Cell population 19 is much larger than its neighboring populations, 20, 29, 18, etc., suggesting that the latter is parasitized by the former. However, precisely characterizing these competitive (war) or cooperative (peace) types of cell-cell interactions, as a stepping stone to cancer diagnosis and therapy, is very challenging and requires a conceptual theory and modeling framework.

3.1. Game theory

In a tumor, different populations "live" together following Darwin's rule. Consider two cell populations A and B, each of which tends to maximize its fitness under Darwinian selection using a cooperative (+), spite (–) or neutral (0) strategy [33]. If both populations are cooperative, they benefit from each other. If each population spites its partner, then both grow at a competitive cost of the counterpart. If one is cooperative but the second gives spite, then only the latter benefits in an altruistic or parasitic way. It is not difficult to see that the fitness of any cell population in its interconnected environment is the net consequence of competition, cooperation and parasitism. According to evolutionary game theory, these interaction patterns can be formulated by a *strategy matrix* expressed as

		Population B						
		+	0	-	(1)			
Population A	+	Mutualism	Commensalism	Predation				
	0	Commensalism	Coexistence	Amensalism				
	_	Predation	Amensalism	Antagonism				

interactions that occur at any level of entities, from cell, cell population to geographical region. In a single hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tumor, Ling et al. [31] idebtified 286 representative spatial regions, of which 23 were genotyped at 269 mutation loci over 19 human chromosomes and phenotyped (Fig. 2a). Each region may contain a specific cell population and thus, our analysis will focus on intratumoral interactions at the cell population level. We use ploidy levels of each region as a phenotypic trait for intratumoral GWAS analysis. The level of ploidy is thought to be an indicator of cancer pathogenesis [32] so that we can use it as a fitness-related phenotype of cancer. The tumor is divided into four quadrants A-D, from each of which 23 regions were randomly and evenly sampled (Fig. 2b). Of 269 genotyped loci, 87 are segregating in 23 regions, which are associated with ploidy level through the analysis of likelihood (Box 1). It can be seen that genetic mutations occur stochastically over 23 human chromosomes. Of 87 polymorphic loci among the sampled cell populations, 16 are significantly associated with the level of cell ploidy (Fig. 2c). Several significant mutations, such as CER1, miRNA:has-miR-16-1, and MLL, each explain 10-15% of the phenotypic variation, remarkably larger than many others. These loci are the drivers that cause the heterogeneity of intratumoral cells.

3. Computing cooperation and competition within a tumor

As can be seen from a tumor (Fig. 1), cell populations 1, 2, 3 and 6 are equally large, possibly implying their involvement of growthpromoting mutations. Another possibility is that these cells mutually cooperate to favor their growth and proliferation given their Different strategies used by each cell population will form several types of ecological interactions [2,4]: **mutualism** (+/+) by which two populations cooperate and produce factors or bring in resources that will benefit both interacting parties, peaceful coex**istence** (0/0) by which the two populations can co-exist but have no dramatic benefit to each other, **antagonism** (-/-) as the strongest negative interactions arising due to limitation in resources such as nutrients and oxygen, which can manifest phenotypically via the secretion of molecules by one population that either kills or suppresses competitor cells and vice versa, commensalism (+/0 or 0/+) by which one population can benefit another without being affected itself, predation/parasitism (+/-) that benefit one population by consuming biomass at the expense of the other, although predation is more extreme than parasitism, and amen**salism** (0/- or -/0) that is similar to competition but occurring more undirectionally, involving the inhibition of one population by another with the latter being not affected.

3.2. A computing framework

Coordinated cooperation and competition among cancer cells of differing genetic makeup have important consequences for the overall behavior of cancer. By combining network analysis and game theory, a cell-rewiring model was developed to study, discern and annotate war and peace that occur within the communities of cancer cells. The model was further reformed to unravel the genetic architecture that govern the direction and strength of cell-cell interactions. Let y_1 and y_2 denote the values of a fitness-related trait for two co-occurring cell populations A and B, respectively.



Fig. 2. Sample collection and data analysis for an HHC tumor [31]. (a) Honeycomb-like microdissection. (b) Geographic locations of 286 regions, 23 of which (in red) were monitored in detail. We connected some regions to show their interactions. (c) Manhattan significance test plot of 87 segregating loci that affect cell-cell variation in ploidy level. LR is the log-likelihood ratio test derived from the likelihood (Box 1). Horizontal line is the genome-wide threshold at the 1% level determined from 1,000 permutation tests. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

The product of y_1 and y_2 is used to measure the extent of their **cooperation**; their ratios reflect the extent of the benefit of one population relative to the other (**altruism**); and the inverse of their product measures the extent of **competition**. In Box 1, following Zhu et al.'s [27] game-analytical model, we describe a likelihood model for characterizing these interactions and the genetic machineries underlying each interaction.

3.3. Application

By analyzing sequence data from individual regions within the HCC tumor (Fig. 2A), Ling et al. [31] found the existence of intratumoral genetic diversity, although it does not obey Darwinian evolutionary theory. Our model can identify whether intratumoral genetic diversity results from interactions between different cell populations. Twenty-three randomly sampled regions were paired to quantify their cooperative, altruistic and competitive interactions in terms of ploidy level, weighted by their pairwise distances. Overall, the cooperative network (Fig. 3A)

contains much more connections than does the competitive network (Fig. 3B), suggesting that cell–cell cooperation is more pervasive within this tumor studied, compared to cell–cell competition. It can be seen that region A25 strongly cooperates with the largest number of other regions, followed by A66, B9 and D25. These regions connecting with so many other regions, called hub regions, play a central role in maintaining the stability of cell–cell interaction network (Fig. 3A). Uncoupling the connections of these hub regions with other regions likely causes the instability of the cell community and, therefore, affects the holistic behavior of cancer. Although connections are much sparser in the network of competition (Fig. 3B), several regions can still be identified to repress the expression of other regions.

The cell-rewiring model was further used to identify 16 significant mutation loci distributed in different chromosomes that regulate intratumor interactions between these regions (Fig. 3C). Each of these loci pleiotropically affects cooperation, altruism, and competition, although some loci exert a larger effect on one type of interaction than others. For example, LRRTM4, LRP2, GABRAI1,



Fig. 3. The networks of cooperative interactions (**A**) and competitive interactions (**B**) among 23 sampled cell regions constructed by game theory. Dually arrowed lines indicate the mutual activation of two cell regions, whereas T-shaped lines represent the inhibition of one cell regions by another. Manhattan significance test plot of genetic mutations for cell-cell cooperation (red), cell-cell altruism (blue) and cell-cell competition (green) through ploidy level within the HHC tumor (**C**). LR is the log-likelihood ratio test derived from the likelihood (Box 1). Horizontal line is the genome-wide threshold at the 1% level determined from 1,000 permutation tests. Numbers in the box at the upper left are the portions of the genetic variance explained by the direct effect, indirect effect and across-cell epistatic effect of six representative mutation loci. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

and ZNF498 each exhibit a similar magnitude of their effect on the three types of interactions, CER1, CLEC18A, SSC4D, miRNA:hsa-miR-16-1 and JAK2 play a larger role in modulating cooperation than competition, and other loci, such as PPP1R3B and MLL, are determinants of cell-cell conflict in the first place and determinants of cooperation in the second place.

In addition to identifying how a mutation regulates the fitness of cancer cells, the model can provide unique insight into the genetic machineries of cell-cell interactions. For example, the effect of a mutation on intratumor interactions can be further partitioned into three components, i.e., the direct effect of the mutation, carried by a target cell, on the own fitness of this cell, the indirect effect of this mutation on the fitness of the other cells that are geographically close to the target cell, and the across-cell epistatic effect of the mutation derived from a different cell (Box 1). We estimated the portions of the total genetic variance explained by the indirect effect, indirect effect and across-cell epistatic effect for each significant locus as a cooperation gene, altruism gene or competition gene, respectively. It is interesting to find that the indirect effect contributes to genetic variance as much as the direct effect, both generally accounting for 20–30%. Surprisingly, the across-cell epistatic effect explains a large portion of genetic variance, which, in most cases, is even larger than those explained by the direct effect. Beyond all existing approaches, our model can dig out the hidden genetic architecture of cancer phenotype by identifying indirect and across-cell epistatic effects or variances.

M. Sang et al. / Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 18 (2020) 45-51

4. Discussion

As a complex disease, cancer is jointly controlled by genetic and environmental factors and their interactions through developmental pathways. A vast body of cancer research has used genomewide association studies (GWAS) to identify genetic loci associated with cancer risk by comparing differences of DNA sampled from a natural population [6–9]. However, despite our mounting knowledge gained from GWAS, an overwhelming success in understanding the genetic basis of this disease has still been largely far from our expectation. We have increasingly recognized that this failure results largely from a high ITH, characterized by a tumor, but the systematic identity of individual cell states has not been made possible until the advent of single-cell sequencing techniques. How to transform increasingly growing amounts of single-cell data into a procedure of predicting the mechanistic and regulatory programs of cancer development has now become one of the most important tasks.

In this article, we present a novel model that unifies ecosystem theory and game theory to model, annotate and contextualize internal workings within a tumor driven by cancer cells. Although genetic ITH has made it extremely difficult to remove cancer, the interdependence of cancer cells may open up a new avenue to control this disease. For example, if cancer growth relies on the cooperation of its cells, then a particular pharmacological intervention can be designed and delivered to uncouple this cooperation. If different cells compete for the same type of resources such as oxygen and nutrient, specific drugs can be developed to induce and amplify their conflict, leading to the simultaneous eradication of these cells. Apart from internal interactions within cancer, cancer cells also interact with the tissue environment of the host; for example, immune cells may predate and, ultimately, destroy cancer cells. This process has led to the birth of immunotherapies that control cancer by increasing the patient's immune capacity [34].

It is possible that the exploitation of cell-cell interrelationships can give rise to a new cancer therapy that is different from, but likely to be more effective and efficient in terms of the prevention of recurrence and side effects, than currently used surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy approaches [35]. The first most important step to make this assumption a reality is to profoundly understand how intratumor cells interact internally with each other and how they interact externally with the immune cells of the host. Our conceptual model provides a start point to further chart a detailed atlas of ecological interactions among cancer cells and the host's immune cells, and could also stimulate the collaboration of oncologists, pharmacologists and statisticians to determine and select an optimal treatment for cancer.

Author contributions statement

RW conceived of the idea and wrote the paper. MS and LJ performed statistical modeling and testing. SR, XL, and CPB provided insight into intratumoral interactions. CG read and edited the manuscript.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

This work is supported by Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities 2015ZCQ-SW-06 and BLX2015-23 and grant NICHD 5R01HD086911-02 from the National Institute of Health (CG)

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2019.11.009.

References

- Merlo LMF, Pepper JW, Reid BJ, et al. Cancer as an evolutionary and ecological process. Nat Rev Cancer 2006;6:924–35.
- [2] Tabassum DP, Polyak K. Tumorigenesis: it takes a village. Nat Rev Cancer 2015;15:473–83.
- [3] Qazi MA, Vora P, Venugopal C, et al. Intratumoral heterogeneity: pathways to treatment resistance and relapse in human glioblastoma. Ann Oncol 2017;28:1448–56.
- [4] Korolev KS, Xavier JB, Gore J. Turning ecology and evolution against cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2014;14:371–80.
- [5] Easton DF, Eeles RA. Genome-wide association studies in cancer. Hum Mol Genet 2008;17:R109–15.
- [6] Stadler ZK, Gallagher DJ, Thom P, et al. Genome-wide association studies of cancer: principles and potential utility. Oncology 2010;24:629–37.
- [7] Garcia-Closas M, Couch FJ, Lindstrom S, et al. Genome-wide association studies identify four ER negative-specific breast cancer risk loci. Nat Genet 2013;45:392–8.
- [8] Fachal L, Dunning AM. From candidate gene studies to GWAS and post-GWAS analyses in breast cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2015;30:32–41.
- [9] Lesseur C, Diergaarde B, Olshan AF, et al. Genome-wide association analyses identify new susceptibility loci for oral cavity and pharyngeal cancer. Nat Genet 2016;48:1544–50.
- [10] Greaves M, Maley CC. Clonal evolution in cancer. Nature 2012;481:306–13.
 [11] McGranahan N, Swanton C. Clonal heterogeneity and tumor evolution: past,
- present, and the future. Cell 2017;168:613–28.
- [12] von Loga K, Gerlinger M. Cancer (r)evolution. Nat Ecol Evo 2017;1:1051-2.
- [13] Welch DR. Tumor heterogeneity 2016. Cancer Res 2016;76:4–6.[14] Saadatpour A, Lai S, Guo G, et al. Single-cell analysis in cancer genomics.
- Trends Genet 2015;31:576–86. [15] Jørgensen SE. Ecosystem theory, ecological buffer capacity, uncertainty and
- complexity. Ecol Model 1990;52:125–33. [16] von Neumann J, Morgenstern S. Theory of Games and Economic
- Behavior. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 1944.
- [17] Smith JM, Price GR. The logic of animal conflict. Nature 1971;246:15-6.
- [18] Vittecoq M, Roche B, Daoust SP, et al. Cancer: a missing link in ecosystem functioning? Trends Ecol Evol 2013;28:628–35.
- [19] Alizadeh AA, Aranda V, Bardelli A, et al. Toward understanding and exploiting tumor heterogeneity. Nat Med 2015;21:846–53.
- [20] Bedard PL, Hansen AR, Ratain MJ, et al. Tumour heterogeneity in the clinic. Nature 2013;501:355–64.
- [21] Gillies RJ, Verduzo D, Gatenby RA. Evolutionary dynamics of carcinogenesis and why targeted therapy does not work. Nat Rev Cancer 2012;12:487–93.
- [22] Cleary AS, Leonard TL, Gestl SA, et al. Tumour cell heterogeneity maintained by cooperating subclones in Wnt-driven mammary cancers. Nature 2014;508: 113–7.
- [23] Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, et al. Cancer genome landscapes. Science 2013;339:1546–58.
- [24] Watson IR, Takahashi K, Futreal PA, et al. Emerging patterns of somatic mutations in cancer. Nat Rev Genet 2013;14:703–18.
- [25] Castro-Giner F, Ratcliffe P, Tomlinson I. The mini-driver model of polygenic cancer evolution. Nat Rev Cancer 2015;15:680–5.
- [26] Badano JL, Katsanis N. Beyond Mendel: an evolving view of human genetic disease transmission. Nat Rev Genet 2002;3:779–89.
- [27] Zhu XL, Jiang L, Ye M, et al. Integrating evolutionary game theory into mechanistic genotype-phenotype mapping. Trends Genet 2016;32:256–68.
- [28] Waclaw B, Bozic I, Pittman ME, et al. A spatial model predicts that dispersal and cell turnover limit intratumour heterogeneity. Nature 2015;525:261–4.
- [29] Li JH, Das K, Fu G, et al. The Bayesian lasso for genome-wide association studies. Bioinformatics 2011;27:516–23.
- [30] Gosik K, Kong L, Chinchilli VM, et al. iFORM/eQTL: an ultrahigh-dimensional platform for inferring the global genetic architecture of gene transcripts. Brief Bioinform 2016;18:250–9.
- [31] Ling S, Hu Z, Yang Z, et al. Extremely high genetic diversity in a single tumor points to prevalence of non-Darwinian cell evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015;112:E6496–505.
- [32] Kallioniemi OP, Blanco G, Alavaikko M, et al. Tumour DNA ploidy as an independent prognostic factor in breast cancer. Br J Cancer 1987;56:637–42.
- [33] Nowak MA, Sigmund K. Evolutionary dynamics of biological games. Science 2004;303:793–9.
- [34] Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. Science 2013;342:1432–3.
- [35] Enriquez-Navas PM, Kam Y, Das T, et al. Exploiting evolutionary principles to prolong tumor control in preclinical models of breast cancer. Sci Transl Med 2016;8:327ra24.
- [36] Komarova NL. Cancer: a moving target. Nature 2015;525:198-9.